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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

__________________________________________ 
       ) 
YASSIN MUHIDDIN AREF, et al. )   
       ) 
                                     Plaintiffs, )  
       ) 
                      v.                                                           )    Civil Action No. 10-0539-BJR 
       ) 
 ) 
ERIC HOLDER, et al. ) 
 ) 
       ) 
                                     Defendants. ) 
       ) 
 

DEFENDANTS’ OBJECTIONS AND RESPONSES TO PLAINTIFFS’ SIXTH SET OF 
INTERROGATORIES FOR ALL DEFENDANTS 

 
In accordance with Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 26(e) and 33, Defendants, by and 

through their undersigned counsel, hereby respond to Plaintiffs’ Sixth Set of Interrogatories.  

Defendants incorporate by reference the General Statement and Objections set forth in 

Defendants’ Objections and Responses to Plaintiffs’ First Set of Interrogatories, dated November 

21, 2011. 

GENERAL STATEMENT AND OBJECTIONS 

 1. Defendants note that they have previously provided most if not all of the 

information contained in the responses below to Plaintiffs informally in response to questions 

posed by Plaintiffs concerning Defendants’ recent document production.  Plaintiffs did not object 

to Defendants’ informal answers and have represented that their purpose in serving these 

interrogatories is to receive the information previously provided by Defendants “in the form of 

sworn responses.”  Pls.’ Status R., ECF No. 133, at 3-4.       
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2. Defendants object to the interrogatories to the extent they request information that 

is not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. 

 3. To the extent that Defendants answer these interrogatories, Defendants do not 

concede that the information requested is relevant to this action. Defendants expressly reserve 

the right to object to further discovery on the subject matter of any of these interrogatories and 

the introduction into evidence of any answer or portion thereof. 

 4. Defendants object to these interrogatories to the extent that they seek information 

protected from disclosure by the attorney-client privilege, the work product doctrine, deliberative 

process, law enforcement privilege, or any other applicable privilege or immunity recognized 

under statute or applicable case law. 

 5. Defendants object to these interrogatories to the extent that they seek to impose 

obligations beyond those specified under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

 6. Defendants object to these interrogatories to the extent that they seek to impose 

obligations beyond those specified pursuant to the Court’s orders governing discovery. 

 7. Each of the foregoing General Objections is incorporated by reference into each 

and every specific response set forth below.  

8. Notwithstanding the specific responses to any interrogatory, Defendants do not 

waive any of these General Objections. 

RESPONSES 

INTERROGATORY NO. 1 
 

Is the document produced at BOP 76413 a draft of a memorandum authored by Joyce 
Conley on March 5, 2008 (i.e. Deposition Exhibit 38)? 
 
Response to Interrogatory No. 1: 
 

Yes. 
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INTERROGATORY NO. 2 
 
As to the document produced at BOP 76414-17: 

a. From when does it date? 
b. Who authored it? 
c. What is its purpose? 
 

Response to Interrogatory No. 2: 
 

After reasonable investigation, BOP believes that BOPCMU076414-17 was created after 

2008 and was most likely originally drafted by BOP officials in the CTU, although the document 

may have been further revised by other BOP officials.  BOP further believes that 

BOPCMU076414-17 is a set of talking points, which was most likely for use by the Executive 

Staff. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 3 
 
As to the document produced at BOP 76427-31: 

a. To whom was it distributed? 
b. Was the process described in the memorandum implemented between July 24, 2009 
and October 14, 2009? 

 
Response to Interrogatory No. 3: 
 

BOPCMU76427-31 was sent to the NCRO/Regional Director’s resource email box, with 

a copy to the NERO/Regional Director’s resource email box.  The process described in the 

memorandum was not implemented between July 24, 2009 and October 14, 2009. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 4 
 
As to the document produced at BOP 76687: 

a. From when does it date? 
b. Who authored it? 
c. To who was it distributed? 
d. What is its purpose and use? 

 
Response to Interrogatory No. 4: 
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Although the date “11/6/06” appears at the top of this document, the BOP, after 

reasonable investigation, is unable to confirm the date it was created.  BOPCMU076687 was 

maintained by the Legislative and Correctional Issues Branch (LCI), Office of General Counsel; 

it was maintained in a shared drive that was accessible by multiple LCI officials, but there is no 

record of it being distributed outside of that office.  After reasonable inquiry, Defendants believe 

that BOPCMU076687 is an early draft sketch of how a CMU-like unit might work. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 5 
 
As to the document produced at BOP 77014: 

a. Please identify by Bates number any documents that were attached to this email. 
b. Please identify by Bates number any documents to which this email was attached. 

 
Response to Interrogatory No. 5: 
 

BOPCMU077016 and BOPCMU077017 were sent as attachments to BOPCMU077014.  

BOPCMU077014 was sent as an attachment to BOPCMU077018. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 6 
 
As to the document produced at BOP 76719: 

a. From when does it date? 
b. Who authored it? 
c. To who was it distributed? 
d. What is its purpose and use? 

 
Response to Interrogatory No. 6: 
 

After reasonable investigation, the BOP has determined that a draft of this document 

existed as early as March 2007 and was updated as recently as 2008.  BOPCMU076719 was 

compiled by officials in the BOP Counter Terrorism Unit (CTU), and it was shared with the 

Correctional Programs Division.  BOP believes that the purpose of BOPCMU76719 was to 

convey the views of the CTU regarding how the CMU referral process might operate; it was 

4 
 

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 7 of 118



further used to brief a warden at USP Marion about CMU procedures prior to the activation of 

the CMU at that facility. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 7 
 
As to the document produced at BOP 76900-33: 

a. Did the CTU use the risk assessment tool referenced in the document in the CMU 
designation process? 
b. What is the “outside agency” referenced in the document as having provided assistance 
to the BOP? 

 
Response to Interrogatory No. 7: 
 

The risk assessment tool referenced in BOPCMU076900-33 was not used by the CTU in 

the CMU designation process.  After reasonable inquiry, the BOP is unable to confirm what 

agency is being referenced by the phrase “outside agency” in BOPCMU07903. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 8 
 

Was the document produced at BOP 76788-804 originally attached to the document 
produced at BOP 76787? 
 
Response to Interrogatory No. 8: 
 

Yes. 
 
INTERROGATORY NO. 9 
 
As to the document produced at BOP 76889-91: 

a. What are the “documents provided to BOP staff, and the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation (FBI)” referenced in this document? 
b. Does “information” provided to “all BOP regional directors informing them of the new 
CMU at USP Marion” consist of a March 5, 2008 memorandum authored by Joyce 
Conley (produced at P000022)? Does this document refer to any further information 
provided to BOP regional directors? 
c. What are the “previous two memorandums” referenced at BOP 77890? 

 
Response to Interrogatory No. 9: 
 

After reasonable inquiry, the BOP believes that the documents referenced were other 

memoranda or similar documents providing guidance on the CMUs.  The “information” 
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referenced in the document consists of a March 5, 2008 memorandum authored by Joyce Conley.  

BOPCMU076889-91 does not refer to any further information provided to BOP regional 

directors.  After reasonable inquiry, the BOP believes that the two previous memos referenced in 

the email are located at BOPCMU077041-45. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 10 
 

Please identify by Bates number all documents were attached to the email produced at 
BOP 76725. 
 
Response to Interrogatory No. 10: 
 

There were four documents attached to BOPCMU076725:  BOPCMU076719, 

BOPCMU077092-94, BOPCMU077095-102, and BOPCMU077103-07. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 11 
 

What is the meaning of “b number” as referenced in BOP 76731? 
 
Response to Interrogatory No. 11: 
 
 After reasonable inquiry, the BOP is unable to confirm the meaning of the “b number” 

reference in BOPCMU076731. 

 
AS TO THE OBJECTIONS: 
 

Dated:  March 25, 2014   Respectfully submitted, 

 
STUART F. DELERY  
Assistant Attorney General 

 
      RONALD C. MACHEN JR. 
      United States Attorney 
      
      ANTHONY J. COPPOLINO 
      Deputy Branch Director 
      Federal Programs Branch 
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      By: ________/s/_______________ 
      NICHOLAS CARTIER  
      (D.C. Bar # 495850) 
      NATHAN M. SWINTON 
      (NY Bar)  
      TIMOTHY JOHNSON 
      (D.C. Bar # 986295) 
 

Trial Attorneys 
      U.S. Department of Justice 
      Civil Division/Federal Programs 
      Mail: P.O. Box 883 
      Washington, D.C.  20044 
      Street: 20 Massachusetts Ave., N.W. 
      Washington, DC  20001 
      Ph: (202) 616-8351 
      Fax: (202) 616-8470 
      Email: nicholas.cartier@usdoj.gov 
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I declare under penalty of perjury that Defendants' responses to Interrogatory No. 11

contGESixth Set ofInterrogatories for all Defendant's is correct
Lesfie Smith

Chief, Counter-Terrorism Unit
Federal Bureau of Prisons
Central Office

Washington, D.C.

March 20,2014
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I declare under penalty of perjury that Defendants' responses to Interrogatory No.4 
cont · ed in Plaintiffs' Sixth Set oflnterrogatories for all Defendant's is correct. 

Paul Layer 
Deputy Assistant Director 
Program Review Division 
Federal Bureau of Prisons 
Central Office 
Washington, D. C. 

March J.-0, 2014 
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PROTECTED - ATTORNEYS EYE ONLY

LCI Binder 2 000007BOPCMU076875 BOPCMU076875
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PROTECTED - ATTORNEYS EYE ONLY

LCI Binder 2 000008BOPCMU076876 BOPCMU076876
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PROTECTED - ATTORNEYS EYE ONLY

LCI Binder 2 000009BOPCMU076877 BOPCMU076877
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PROTECTED - ATTORNEYS EYE ONLY

LCI Binder 2 000010BOPCMU076878 BOPCMU076878
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BOPCMU076879 BOPCMU076879
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BOPCMU076880 BOPCMU076880
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BOPCMU076881 BOPCMU076881
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DONALD L. DENNEY, Ph.D.  7/26/2013  Yassin Muhiddin Aref, et al. vs. Eric Holder, et al.

DOLGINOFF & ASSOCIATES  (913)  894-4200

Page 1

           UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
           FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

YASSIN MUHIDDIN AREF
et al.,

             Plaintiffs,

vs.                      Civil Action 10-0539 (RMU)

ERIC HOLDER, et al.,

             Defendants.

               ATTORNEYS' EYES ONLY

        DEPOSITION OF DONALD L. DENNEY, Ph.D., a
witness, taken on behalf of the Plaintiffs,
pursuant to Notice, on the 26th day of July, 2013,
at the Federal Bureau of Prisons, 400 State Avenue,
Suite 800, Kansas City, Kansas, before

                  LOUISE R. BELL

of Dolginoff & Associates, a Registered
Professional Reporter, Certified in Kansas and
Missouri.

                    APPEARANCES

        For the Plaintiffs:
             MS. CHAUNIQUA YOUNG
             (Via video conference)
             CENTER FOR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS
             666 Broadway, 7th Floor
             New York, New York  10012

             MR. ANDREY SPEKTOR
             (Via video conference)
             WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES, LLP
             767 Fifth Avenue
             New York, New York  10153
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1 A.  I'm aware of the two different units, and I
2     recognize that they are not identical in terms
3     of their form and structure.
4 Q.  (By Mr. Spektor)  But putting aside their form
5     and structure -- by that, I just mean the
6     physical attributes of the two units -- are
7     there any other differences that you're aware
8     of between the two units?
9 A.  I am not aware of any other differences, no.

10 Q.  Okay, we talked a little bit about the process
11     of -- the nomination that originates at either
12     the facility level and, as I understand it,
13     sometimes at the CTU level.  Can you just
14     describe that process in your own words, as you
15     understand it, of an inmate being first
16     recommended and then placed into the CMU?
17 A.  The typical process that I'm aware of is that
18     that information would come to the North
19     Central Regional Office to typically our
20     Correctional Programs staff, who would then
21     assemble a packet of information that they
22     would collect and put into a folder, and then
23     that folder information would then be routed to
24     various sources here in the regional office for
25     review and for comment, ultimately resulting in

Page 19

1     it being reviewed by the Regional Director to
2     determine whether or not the Regional Director
3     believed that the individual warranted
4     placement into the CMU.
5 Q.  You mentioned this packet that you get of
6     information.  Can you just tell me what you
7     remember to be included in those packets?
8 A.  Sure.  The most important piece of information
9     in that packet, to me, was the pre-sentence

10     investigation report.  There were, at times,
11     copies of information from the CTU with respect
12     to their -- their assessment of the case and
13     its need for CMU placement.  I recall Sentry
14     printouts of the inmate profile.  If there were
15     any relevant medical or mental health
16     information that had been forwarded to us, that
17     information would be included as well.
18              And those are the things that strike
19     me most about what I remember from the packet.
20              I'm sorry, and the review form itself.
21 Q.  When you say "the review form," is that a CMU
22     review form where you make your recommendation?
23 A.  Yes.
24 Q.  Do you remember seeing notices of transfers to
25     the CMU already filled out in that packet?
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CONFIDENTIAL - PURSUANT TO PROTECTIVE ORDER

212.400.8845 - Depo@TransPerfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 1

            UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
            FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

YASSIN MUHIDDIN AREF          )
                              )
   and                        )
                              )
DANIEL McGOWAN                )
                              )
   and                        )
                              )
ROYAL JONES                   )
                              )
   and                        )
                              )
KIFAH JAYYOUSI,               )
         Plaintiffs,          )
                              )
            -vs-              ) CIVIL ACTION NO.
                              ) 1:10-cv-0053-BJR
ERIC HOLDER, Attorney General )
of the United States          )
                              ) DEPOSITION OF
   and                        ) BRADLEY A.
                              ) SHOEMAKER
CHARLES E. SAMUELS, Director  ) FRIDAY, 
of the Federal Bureau of      ) AUGUST 16, 2013
Prisons (BOP)                 )
                              ) 
   and                        ) CONFIDENTIAL -
                              ) PURSUANT TO
D. SCOTT DODRILL, Assistant   ) PROTECTIVE ORDER
Director, Correctional        )
Programs Division, Federal    )
Bureau of Prisons             )
                              )
   and                        )
                              )
LESLIE S. SMITH, Chief,       )
Counter Terrorism Unit,       )
Federal Bureau of Prisons     )
                              )
   and                        )
                              )
FEDERAL BUREAU OF PRISONS,    )
         Defendants.          ) Ref. 10029
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1 A   I manage four housing units that consist of

2     about 600 inmates.  I have seven staff that I

3     supervise.  And we handle the day-to-day needs

4     of the inmates, of those particular inmates.

5 Q   Anything else that you can think of?

6 A   Well, we correspond with the US marshals and

7     assistant United States attorney's office to

8     determine classification as far as custody level

9     and transfers to other facilities.

10 Q   How long have you been at this current -- in

11     your current position?

12 A   I was moved from the medium component, the FCI

13     to the penitentiary in April.  So I've been in

14     this actual position since April 8th or 9th, I

15     believe.

16 Q   What's the medium component?

17 A   The FCI.

18 Q   The FCI, okay.

19          And who do you report to?

20 A   The associate warden, Mr. Castaneda.

21 Q   Who are your direct reports?  Who reports to

22     you?

23 A   I have three case managers, three counselors,

24     and a secretary.

25 Q   So let's go back to 2006.  What position did you
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1     hold in 2006?

2 A   That's when I was promoted to unit manager.

3     Prior to that I was a case manager.

4 Q   And in 2006 were you also in the general

5     population, or were you in the CMU?

6 A   No, I was in general population.

7 Q   Okay.  And at what point did you come to the

8     CMU?

9 A   I don't know the exact date, but I was

10     temporarily promoted to the special confinement

11     unit and the CMU.  Again, I don't know the exact

12     dates, but I was there less than one year.

13 Q   Can you give me an approximate date?

14 A   I believe it was 2009, end of 2010.

15 Q   So from approximately the end of 2009 to the end

16     of 2010 --

17 A   Approximately.

18 Q   -- you were working in the CMU on a temporary

19     basis?

20 A   Correct.

21 Q   Why did you come on a temporary basis?

22 A   There was a vacancy.  I had experience in the

23     special confinement unit of about five to six

24     years as the case manager.

25 Q   Okay.
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1     purpose of the CMU?

2 A   Communication Management Unit that's -- there

3     are inmates that, above other inmates, I guess

4     general population inmates, that require

5     monitoring of their communication.

6 Q   Do you know why they require monitoring of their

7     communication?

8 A   No.

9 Q   Do you know if the purpose of the CMU has

10     changed over time?

11 A   I don't believe that it has, but I wouldn't know

12     that.

13 Q   So you understand the goal of the CMU?

14          MR. JOHNSON:  Objection, asked and

15     answered.

16          You can answer.

17 A   I believe it's just to monitor the

18     communication.

19 Q   Do you know who is eligible to go to the CMU?

20 A   No.

21 Q   Do you know how the BOP decides who to send to

22     the CMU?

23 A   No.

24 Q   So you never reviewed paperwork or anything of

25     the sort that would indicate why the BOP made
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1     the decision to send who they sent to the CMU?

2 A   I'm not sure what you're asking.

3 Q   My question is:  Is there anything that you ever

4     reviewed during the time that you worked in the

5     CMU that would indicate why a particular person

6     was sent, why a particular inmate was sent to

7     the CMU?

8          MR. JOHNSON:  Objection, ambiguous.

9          You can answer.

10 A   No.  When they arrived at Terre Haute, they were

11     already designated.  So that was a different

12     phase that I wasn't exposed to.

13 Q   Is there any expectation as to how long a

14     prisoner should remain in the CMU?

15 A   No.

16 Q   So there's no expectation?

17 A   You mean like upon arrival?

18 Q   Right, right.  They can stay there indefinitely,

19     in other words?

20 A   I'm not sure.

21 Q   Do you know if there's any difference in Terre

22     Haute or Marion?

23 A   I don't know.

24 Q   So how did you obtain this position of unit

25     manager?  What was the process?
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1     wasn't associated with it.

2 Q   And based on your observations, did a CMU unit

3     share any similarities that you observed?

4          MR. JOHNSON:  Objection, vague.

5          You can answer.

6 A   Not that I recall.

7 Q   So no common characteristics or traits?

8          MR. JOHNSON:  Same objection.

9          You can answer.

10 A   Not that I can -- I know of.

11 Q   For example, being Muslim or terrorism

12     convictions or anything of that sort?

13 A   I don't -- I wouldn't know.

14 Q   Were you ever curious as to why certain inmates

15     were designated to the CMU?

16 A   I wouldn't know why they were designated.  On my

17     part, I just assumed that it was an inmate that

18     required more monitoring of his communication.

19 Q   Was there ever a person you encountered in the

20     CMU who you thought did not belong?

21          MR. JOHNSON:  Objection, vague.

22          You can answer.

23 A   Again, I don't know the basis of why they were

24     designated there, so I wouldn't know that

25     answer.
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1     appeal; correct?

2 A   I'm a little confused with the question.

3 Q   Okay.  So if you have an inmate who has been

4     convicted of a terrorism-related charge, that

5     conviction will always be there, that will not

6     go away unless, for some reason, the inmate is

7     able to appeal that conviction; correct?

8 A   And when, yes.

9 Q   And when, yes, successfully.

10 A   Yes.

11 Q   So how would you review the designation of an

12     inmate who is only placed in the CMU due to a

13     terrorism-related conviction?

14          MR. JOHNSON:  Objection, incomplete

15     hypothetical.

16          You can answer.

17 A   I don't know that I would just look at his --

18     I'm not sure -- I would never know why an inmate

19     was designated, because that's prior to him

20     getting to the unit.  But I would not just

21     simply look at his offense.  I would look at

22     other factors based on that Custody

23     Classification Form 5100.

24 Q   So if you were trying to determine whether an

25     inmate still belongs in the CMU, but the reason
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1     point system, we would make a recommendation

2     based on the security or custody of each inmate.

3 Q   Then it continues that, "Additional information

4     to be considered includes whether the original

5     rationale for CMU designation has been

6     mitigated, whether the inmate no longer presents

7     a risk, and that the inmate does not require the

8     degree of monitoring and controls afforded that

9     in the CMU."

10          Now, with respect to the phrase "additional

11     information to be considered includes whether

12     the additional -- original rationale for CMU

13     designation has been mitigated."

14          So you would agree that if the original

15     rationale for CMU designation was a

16     terrorism-related conviction, would it be

17     virtually impossible for this original rationale

18     to be mitigated; correct?

19          MR. JOHNSON:  Objection, argumentative,

20     vague.

21          You can answer.

22 A   Again, I'm not involved with the initial

23     designation, so I wouldn't know if just his

24     offense or if there were other things considered

25     when placing him in the CMU.
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1     following.

2 Q   So it was both his instant offense and the

3     information that you list in the paragraph

4     below; correct?

5 A   Yes.

6 Q   So what was the basis for disapproving

7     Mr. Jayyousi's transfer request?

8          MR. JOHNSON:  Objection, asked and

9     answered.

10          You can answer.

11 A   Well, I can't speak for the warden, but the unit

12     team, the recommendation was based on the

13     seriousness of his offense, the amount of time

14     that he had to serve, according to this.  I

15     mean, I don't recall his actual case unless I

16     look at this, but what this information is

17     providing me is that's what the decision was

18     based on.  His instant offense, the amount of

19     time he was sentenced, and the time remaining.

20 Q   This seems to indicate that the decision to

21     redesignate Jayyousi to the CMU was based on his

22     terrorism-related conviction, not his

23     institutional behavior; is that correct?

24 A   To redesignate him?

25 Q   Let me restate.
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1          This notice seems to indicate that the

2     decision to recommend disapproval for his

3     transfer request, Mr. Jayyousi's transfer

4     request was based on his terrorism-related

5     conviction and not any institutional behavior.

6          MR. JOHNSON:  Objection, argumentative.  Is

7     there a question?

8 A   Could you reask me the question?  I'm not sure

9     what you're asking me.

10 Q   Is there anything that was written in this

11     document to indicate that Mr. Jayyousi was

12     misbehaving in the institutional setting, and

13     that this misbehavior caused him -- caused his

14     transfer request to be denied?

15 A   The only thing regarding his institutional

16     behavior, it states that his history of

17     institutional conduct violations include

18     interfering with a security device on June 2nd,

19     2005.

20 Q   And that was obviously prior to his being

21     designated to the CMU; correct?

22 A   I'm not sure.

23 Q   Well, the CMU, I believe, opened in 2006, and

24     Mr. Jayyousi was transferred in June 2008.  So

25     it would appear that this occurred prior to his
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1     arrival at the CMU?

2 A   Yeah.  I wasn't sure when the CMU opened.  If it

3     opened in '06 and this happened in '05, then

4     yeah, I would agree with that.

5          MS. LEWIS:  I'm going to mark Exhibit 91,

6     which is P00498.

7          Before I get to this next exhibit, let's

8     take a ten-minute break.  Does that work for

9     everyone?

10          MR. JOHNSON:  Sure.

11          MS. LEWIS:  Thank you.

12          (A recess was taken.)

13          MS. LEWIS:  So I'm marking Exhibit 91,

14     P00498.

15          (Deposition Exhibit 91 marked for

16     identification.)

17 BY MS. LEWIS:

18 Q   Let me know when you're done reading.  I'm just

19     going to ask you about the first page --

20 A   Oh, okay.

21 Q   -- if that's helpful.

22 A   Yeah, I'm ready.

23 Q   This is another memo from you to the warden

24     dated May 21st, 2010; correct?

25 A   Yes.
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1 Q   And this concerns another request by

2     Mr. Jayyousi to be transferred from the CMU;

3     correct?

4 A   Yes.

5 Q   And here you write, "It has been determined that

6     the original reasons for CMU designation and

7     placement still exist and continued placement is

8     warranted."

9          And what are those original reasons?

10 A   I don't recall, but they're not noted on here.

11 Q   Do you believe that the reference to "original

12     reasons" are the reasons that you listed in the

13     December 23rd, 2009 memo to the warden that we

14     discussed previously, which is Exhibit 90?

15 A   I'm of the opinion, yes, that those are the

16     reasons on that Exhibit 90, yes.

17 Q   And Mr. Jayyousi's transfer was, again, denied

18     by the warden; correct?

19 A   I'm not sure if that's his signature, but

20     somebody signed for the warden on that May 21,

21     2010.

22 Q   Disapproving Mr. Jayyousi's --

23 A   Yes.

24 Q   -- request; correct?

25 A   Yes, correct.
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1     communications.

2 Q   And in your understanding, who is eligible to go

3     to the CMU?

4 A   I don't know, I'm not proxy to that information.

5 Q   What's your understanding of the goal of the

6     CMU?

7          MR. CARTIER:  Object, asked and answered.

8          You can answer.

9 A   To monitor one hundred percent of the

10     communications of inmates that are sent there.

11 Q   Do you know if there's any expectation as to how

12     long a prisoner should remain in the CMU?

13 A   Not to my -- I'm not proxy to that information

14     either.

15 Q   Do you know if there's any difference between

16     the unit in Terre Haute and the one in Marion?

17 A   Not to my knowledge.

18 Q   Do you know why sometimes inmates are sent from

19     Terre Haute to Marion?

20 A   No.

21 Q   No, you don't know, or --

22 A   No, I don't know.

23 Q   Just based on your observations, have you

24     noticed any common characteristics of the

25     inmates assigned to the CMU?

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 44 of 118



EXHIBIT 46 

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 45 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 46 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 47 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 48 of 118



EXHIBIT 47 

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 49 of 118



- 1 - 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

__________________________________________ 
       ) 
YASSIN MUHIDDIN AREF, et al. )   
       ) 
                                     Plaintiffs, )  
       ) 
                      v.                                                           )    Civil Action No. 10-0539 (RMU) 
       ) 
 ) 
ERIC HOLDER, et al. ) 
 ) 
       ) 
                                     Defendants. ) 
       ) 
 

DEFENDANTS’ SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE 
TO INTERROGATORY NO. 33 OF PLAINTIFFS’ FIRST SET OF 

INTERROGATORIES  
 

In accordance with Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 26(e) and 33, Defendants, by and 

through their undersigned counsel, hereby supplement their response to Interrogatory No. 33 of 

Plaintiffs’ First Set of Interrogatories.  Defendants incorporate by reference the General 

Statement and Objections set forth in Defendants’ Objections and Responses to Plaintiffs’ First 

Set of Interrogatories, dated November 21, 2011. 

SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE 

INTERROGATORY NO. 33 

 How many current BOP inmates are eligible for nomination to the CMU by virtue of 
fitting into one or more of the BOP’s criteria for CMU designation as identified in the BOP’s 
2007 Statue [sic] of the Bureau Report (see Complaint at ¶ 33)? 
 
Objections to Interrogatory No. 33: 
 
 Defendants object that it would be unduly burdensome to attempt to identify every 

prisoner who might theoretically be eligible for a CMU designation.  Defendants further object 
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that the information sought is not relevant because the decision to designate an inmate to the 

CMU is an individualized determination based on the particular security risks posed by an 

individual inmate.   

 
Amended Response to Interrogatory No. 33: 
 

Subject to and without waiving these objections and the general objections set forth in 

Defendants’ Objections and Responses to Plaintiffs’ First Set of Interrogatories, dated November 

21, 2011, and pursuant to the agreement of the parties as reflected in Plaintiffs’ February 9, 2012 

letter, Defendants respond as follows: 

 As of March 12, 2012, there were 264 BOP inmates whose current offense(s) of 

conviction, or offense conduct, includes association, communication, or involvement, related to 

international terrorism, and 90 BOP inmates whose current offense(s) of conviction, or offense 

conduct, includes association, communication, or involvement, related to domestic terrorism.  

 As of January 28, 2012, the number of BOP inmates who had received more than one 

sustained disciplinary report involving the misuse or abuse of approved communication methods 

was 3,997. 

 
AS TO THE OBJECTIONS: 
 
 
Dated: March 12, 2012   Respectfully submitted, 

      TONY WEST 
      Assistant Attorney General 
 
      RONALD C. MACHEN JR. 
      United States Attorney 
 
      VINCENT M. GARVEY  
      Deputy Branch Director 
      Federal Programs Branch 
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      ________/s/_______________ 
      NICHOLAS CARTIER  
      (D.C. Bar # 495850) 
      NATHAN M. SWINTON 
      (NY Bar) 

Trial Attorneys 
      U.S. Department of Justice 
      Civil Division/Federal Programs 
      Mail: P.O. Box 883 
      Washington, D.C.  20044 
      Street: 20 Massachusetts Ave., N.W. 
      Washington, DC  20001 
      Ph: (202) 616-8351 
      Fax: (202) 616-8470 
      Email: nicholas.cartier@usdoj.gov 
   
      Attorneys for Defendants 

 
 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I certify that on March 12, 2012, a true and correct copy of Defendants’ Supplemental 

Response to Interrogatory No. 33 of Plaintiffs’ First Set of Interrogatories was sent via email to 

counsel for Plaintiffs, Rachel Meeropol and Alexis Agathocleous, Center for Constitutional 

Rights, 666 Broadway, 7th Floor, New York, NY 10012 at AAgathocleous@ccrjustice.org and 

RachelM@ccrjustice.org. 

 

Dated: March 12, 2012 

      ________/s/_______________ 
      NATHAN M. SWINTON  
      Attorney for Defendants 
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           UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

           FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

YASSIN MUHIDDIN AREF

et al.,

             Plaintiffs,

vs.                      Civil Action 10-0539 (RMU)

ERIC HOLDER, et al.,

             Defendants.

               ATTORNEYS' EYES ONLY

        DEPOSITION OF MARY BERNA POTTS, a witness,

taken on behalf of the Plaintiffs, pursuant to

Notice, on the 25th day of July, 2013, at the

Federal Bureau of Prisons, 400 State Avenue,

Suite 800, Kansas City, Kansas, before

                  LOUISE R. BELL

of Dolginoff & Associates, a Registered

Professional Reporter, Certified in Kansas and

Missouri.

                    APPEARANCES

        For the Plaintiffs:

             MS. RACHEL MEEROPOL

             (Via video conference)

             CENTER FOR CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

             666 Broadway, 7th Floor

             New York, New York  10012

             MR. ANDREY SPEKTOR

             (Via video conference)

             WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES, LLP

             767 Fifth Avenue

             New York, New York  10153
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Page 10

1 Q.  I know it's hard to place a number, but did --

2     was the reviewing CMU referrals and designating

3     inmates to a CMU, was that a significant part

4     of your job, or is that sort of a minimal part

5     of your job?

6 A.  It was a minimum part of my job.

7 Q.  When did you first learn about the CMU?

8 A.  Approximately in 2007 when I began my position

9     as Correctional Programs Specialist.

10 Q.  And what did you learn about it?

11 A.  Well, I learned how to prepare CMU referrals.

12     And that was --

13 Q.  And who -- I'm sorry, go ahead.

14 A.  Well, and that was utilizing the CMU

15     guidelines, which is the Bates number we

16     referenced earlier.

17 Q.  And who provided you those guidelines?

18 A.  My supervisor.

19 Q.  Who was your supervisor?

20 A.  Well, I had two different supervisors at the

21     time.  Initially when I began my position, I

22     had Mike Junk, J-u-n-k.  He was the

23     Correctional Programs Administrator.  And then

24     he retired.  And then the second supervisor I

25     had was Laura Mason, M-a-s-o-n.
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1 A.  Yes.  And that was the referral summary.

2 Q.  And what were you told about what you should be

3     putting in the summary?

4 A.  There wasn't -- it just was following what was

5     in the guidelines, and basically just that.

6 Q.  And I don't have the document in front of me

7     that you're referring to, but did those

8     guidelines talk about criteria that should be

9     weighed in deciding whether an inmate belongs

10     in the CMU?

11 A.  Yes.  It includes those type of inmates --

12     those type of inmates with conduct, convictions

13     that we would make referrals for.

14 Q.  Can we just take one minute, please?

15 A.  Sure.

16              (Pause)

17 Q.  (By Mr. Spektor)  And so just to clarify, did

18     anyone explain to you, other than what's on the

19     paper, did anyone explain to you what the

20     criteria is supposed to mean, did you get any

21     sort of fuller explanation?

22 A.  I believe that we did in internal meetings when

23     we discussed CMU, through my supervisors, as

24     one would when you're discussing certain

25     guidelines that we now have to adhere to, and
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1     us to take it off.  That's, to the best of my

2     ability, what I recall.

3 Q.  Do you recall the year when that happened?

4 A.  I don't recall the year.

5 Q.  Did they explain why your recommendation's not

6     needed in some cases?

7 A.  Well, to the best of my knowledge, I'm not an

8     administrator, so I just -- my role is just to

9     write and assess and review and compile the

10     information in the comments section.

11 Q.  We discussed the criteria before, but are you

12     aware of any weight to the -- any differing

13     weight to the different criteria; for example,

14     does it seem more important for terrorists with

15     terrorist convictions or for communications

16     violators?

17 A.  Okay, I'm not -- can you repeat the question

18     again?  I'm sorry.

19 Q.  Sure.  You mentioned the different criteria

20     that's used in CMU designations.

21 A.  Uh-huh.

22 Q.  And the criteria discusses the sorts of inmates

23     that belong in the CMU.

24 A.  Correct.

25 Q.  Is your sense that some inmates belong in the

Page 23

1     CMU more than others?  And an example I gave is

2     inmates who have terrorist convictions as

3     opposed to ones that have communications

4     violations.

5 A.  Yes.  That -- that is the way I understand the

6     guidelines.  And of course the guidelines also

7     include those who have extensive disciplinary

8     history.  Any of those inmates who attempt to

9     coordinate illegal activities through approved

10     communications.

11 Q.  So as you understand your role, as long as you

12     see an inmate that has -- that fits one of the

13     criteria, then it doesn't matter what criteria

14     it is?

15 A.  I only -- I specifically use this criteria

16     that's here.  If -- if -- if a referral is --

17 Q.  And there --

18              You can finish your answer.

19 A.  Okay.  If a referral is being sent from the

20     institution or through CTU, I will write up the

21     referral and give a synopsis of the offense and

22     the offense conduct.  And it may or may not fit

23     the criteria as outlined.  Not all cases --

24     every case is individual.  So I do individual

25     assessments based on each case.

Page 24

1 Q.  Do you have any standard as to how many of

2     those criteria need to be met for an inmate to

3     be recommended to be placed in the CMU?

4 A.  No.  There's -- if you're talking -- am I

5     understanding correctly that -- are you asking

6     me that I need to have a certain number for

7     them to go into the CMU?

8 Q.  Yes.  You mentioned you have five -- I believe

9     you said five criteria.  If an inmate only

10     meets one of those criteria, is that enough for

11     you to recommend him to the CMU?

12 A.  That's correct.

13 Q.  Does it matter what criterion that is?

14 A.  As long as it's one of these criteria that we

15     discussed.

16 Q.  Do you have a sense as to whether the BOP has

17     any goals regarding the percentages of inmates

18     that are in the CMU for different reasons?

19 A.  No.

20 Q.  For instance -- okay.  Thank you.

21 A.  Uh-huh.

22 Q.  Is it your sense that the BOP is looking at the

23     entire universe of people that are -- inmates

24     that were eligible for the CMU, or are they

25     just looking at it on a case-by-case basis?
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1 Q.  Now, the next document you'll see is dated

2     March 9, 2010.

3 A.  Okay.

4 Q.  And it's a memorandum from Unit Manager Kelly.

5 A.  Okay.

6 Q.  And again there's a gap.  This one is dated

7     March 9, 2010.  And the last form that we've

8     seen from your office is September 2008.  So

9     does this gap indicate to you that Mr. McGowan

10     was not considered for redesignation from the

11     CMU in that period of time?

12              MR. CARTIER:  Objection; calls for

13     speculation.  You can answer.

14 A.  I'm not sure.

15 Q.  (By Mr. Spektor)  If he had been considered for

16     transfer out of the CMU, would another form --

17     would another CMU form then be created?

18 A.  Yes.

19 Q.  And is it your understanding that the policy is

20     to create CMU review forms every time a

21     prisoner is considered for a redesignation to

22     or from the CMU?

23 A.  Yes.

24 Q.  Do you normally consider memoranda from Unit

25     Managers when you decide whether to
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1 A.  Yes.  It has my name as the Correctional

2     Programs -- it's hard to tell who the

3     administrator's signature is, but I do have my

4     name up on top, on the top portion.

5 Q.  (By Mr. Spektor)  If you notice, it's dated

6     March 15th, 2007.  My question is, do you see

7     your involvement in this designation?

8 A.  I'm sorry, I didn't understand the question.

9              MR. SPEKTOR:  Maybe it would be a good

10     time for a break and maybe the connection will

11     get better.

12              MR. CARTIER:  Let's take a five-minute

13     break.

14              (A recess was taken.)

15              MR. SPEKTOR:  Nick, we should mark

16     that document as another exhibit, the document

17     that the witness has been referring to, the

18     guidelines.

19              MR. CARTIER:  Sure.  This could be

20     Exhibit 36.

21              (Potts Deposition Exhibit No. 36 was

22     marked for identification.)

23 Q.  (By Mr. Spektor)  So we were looking at

24     Page 93.  The BOP CMU number is 060685.

25 A.  Okay.
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1     changed.

2              But as the referrals would come in

3     from CMU or the institution, yes, the referral

4     was worked up regardless, and I just utilized

5     the information that was provided to me, and

6     then, to the best of my knowledge, worked up

7     the review form.

8 Q.  And in those cases where you did make a

9     recommendation, how did you reach your decision

10     whether to recommend the inmate to the CMU?

11 A.  Well, my recommendation was based strictly on

12     using the guidelines.  Any of the inmates that

13     had been referred, then I was strictly just

14     using the guidelines, nothing more.

15 Q.  And again, I just want to clarify.  When you

16     say "using the guidelines," you mean when an

17     inmate meets one of the criterion that's listed

18     on the guidelines, your job is, as you

19     understand it, is to recommend that inmate to

20     the CMU?

21 A.  That's correct.  And that's utilizing the Bates

22     form Exhibit 36.

23 Q.  Do you believe that your job, in recommending

24     inmates to the CMU, do you believe that job has

25     any discretion?  And by "discretion," I mean do
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1 A.  I'm not sure.

2 Q.  The next line, if you see, says:  Appears

3     regular phone and mail monitoring are working

4     sufficiently.

5              Do you see that?

6 A.  Yes.

7 Q.  But you concurred with CMU placement for this

8     inmate, if you look above at your

9     recommendation; is that correct?

10 A.  That's correct.

11 Q.  So do you remember if you disagreed with the

12     fact that regular phone and mail monitoring are

13     working sufficiently?

14 A.  Well, I disagreed.  I didn't put -- I didn't

15     put a -- my statement under the Correctional

16     Programs Administrator, is that I concur with

17     Marion CMU placement.  But my basis was based

18     on that he needed continued monitoring through

19     telephone and as well as any -- and I did put

20     "social communication."

21 Q.  So which of the criteria for CMU placement does

22     this inmate meet, in your view?

23 A.  In my view, I believe that this inmate

24     affiliation with a terrorist group would

25     require some -- some enhanced monitoring

Page 52

1     through telephone and mail.

2 Q.  Where do you see that this inmate was

3     associated with a terrorist group?

4 A.  "For jihad."  When I see the word "jihad," that

5     to me is an association or affiliation of a

6     terrorist organization.

7 Q.  But before the word "jihad," it says "his

8     continued support for jihad"; it doesn't say

9     that this inmate belongs in an organization

10     that carries out jihad.  Is that a significant

11     distinction to you, does that difference mean

12     anything to you?

13 A.  Well, if he's not in the -- he has some form of

14     association through that organization.

15 Q.  So if this inmate just wrote that, you know, in

16     a letter that he supports jihad and that's the

17     extent of his association, is that enough for

18     you to conclude that he meets one of the

19     criterion?

20 A.  Well, the reason I would -- my -- my response

21     to that is because I believe that -- that we

22     need to ensure the safety of the public and

23     also the orderly running of the institution as

24     well.

25              Whether or not he has any other

Page 53

1     ties -- but apparently from what I have written

2     here, he has continued to support jihad through

3     telephones.  And so that, to me, my main goal

4     is to ensure that -- that we protect the

5     public.  If we can place him in a CMU, that --

6     then that can be established through them.  If

7     at some point in time they don't believe that

8     there's anything, then they can certainly

9     recommend again and recommend denial that

10     there's no threats.  But that's just my

11     professional opinion based on the criteria that

12     I'm using --

13 Q.  I'm just focusing on -- thank you.  I'm just

14     focused on the word "support," and I'm just

15     trying to understand what "support" means to

16     you.  So if someone spoke out about jihad, is

17     that -- does that mean that they support jihad

18     and what -- and if -- and so -- yeah, if you

19     can answer that question:  Does that mean that

20     they support jihad if they just spoke out about

21     it?

22              MR. CARTIER:  Objection; vague.  You

23     can answer.

24 A.  That's my belief.

25 Q.  (By Mr. Spektor)  And if that's all that
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1     happened, would you still write that -- would

2     you still believe that the inmate is associated

3     with a terrorist organization?

4 A.  I do.

5 Q.  So the Executive Assistant disagreed with you;

6     and I'm wondering, did he or she call you and

7     talk about the differences, if you remember?

8 A.  No.  Because once it leaves my -- my office,

9     then it just continues to route through --

10     through the respective administrators, and

11     everyone has an opportunity to put down what --

12     as they review this, what their beliefs are,

13     what the recommendations are.

14              We don't -- no one comes to me and

15     tells me, Well, I disagree with you.  It -- it

16     just -- it leaves my office and each individual

17     makes their own assessment.  And then of course

18     the RD is the final reviewing authority.

19 Q.  So there's no follow up; once you sign off, you

20     make your summary and you make a

21     recommendation, you never hear about this

22     particular case again; is that correct?

23 A.  Well, no, because it would come back -- once it

24     has been completely filled out by the

25     respective administrators and executive staff
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1 A.  In my view, that would mean like he had -- he

2     would have ties or associations to this

3     particular Portland 7 jihadist group.

4 Q.  And I just want to nail down what you think

5     "ties" or "association" means.  So again, if

6     this inmate was just voicing his support for an

7     organization, would that, in your view, mean

8     that he has links, ties, or associations to

9     that organization?

10 A.  Ties, links, members, to the particular

11     organization, I believe that the individual

12     then -- again, I believe that his -- that this

13     group here is a terrorist organization, of

14     course.  And -- and that's my response.

15 Q.  If the inmate just wrote a letter that says,

16     Hey, I think jihad is a good idea, would that

17     mean to you that he has links to a jihad

18     organization?

19 A.  An inmate who is writing any letter or any sort

20     of statement as that, yes, I would definitely

21     believe that it's a very serious statement,

22     especially since, you know, we've had 9/11, and

23     so any ties to any terrorist groups are

24     definitely at the crucial forefront of what we

25     do for the Bureau of Prison, for the protection
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1     of the public, of the -- of public and also for

2     the orderly running of the institution.

3 Q.  And would it cause you to recommend that inmate

4     to the CMU just on the basis of that -- of that

5     letter that I just mentioned?

6              MR. CARTIER:  Objection; hypothetical.

7     You can answer.

8 A.  In my view, I believe so, because again, it's

9     an inmate who's reaching out, if he feels that

10     he's writing letters, trying to get a hold of

11     terrorist organizations.  Then that's where we

12     need to monitor this inmate through the

13     enhanced monitoring communications via

14     telephone, mail, so that staff can ascertain

15     what type of communication he intends, to

16     continue to proceed and to obtain information

17     regarding this individual and what his -- what

18     he's planning to do.  For safety precautions,

19     again.

20 Q.  Thank you.

21 A.  You're welcome.

22 A.  If you can turn to Page 102.  And when you get

23     there, just tell me if you recognize this

24     document.

25 A.  Okay.
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1 A.  We would have talked about the referrals coming

2     in, we would have talked about what format we

3     were going to use, we would have talked about

4     who was going to be in the routing process.

5 Q.  Did you also discuss what criteria would be

6     used to evaluate inmates for CMU placement?

7 A.  Initially the criteria was very vague.

8 Q.  What do you recall of that criteria?

9 A.  Mostly we were told that it was going to be

10     people who needed their communication with the

11     outside world limited.

12 Q.  Any more guidance than that?

13 A.  No.

14 Q.  Is it a fair statement that that could include

15     a very wide range of inmates within the Bureau

16     of Prisons?

17 A.  Yes.

18 Q.  You said that you discussed in the early

19     meeting -- let me back up for a second.

20              Are we talking about one specific

21     early meeting, or were there several meetings

22     to sort of gear up for the CMU referral

23     process?

24 A.  We met daily with our supervisors, so it may

25     have been talked about daily, it may have been
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1     CMU change over time?

2 A.  No.

3 Q.  You indicated that initially the criteria for

4     CMU placement was relatively vague.  Did that

5     change over time?

6 A.  The criteria never really was established

7     formally.

8 Q.  Was the criteria established informally in some

9     way?

10 A.  There really were no criteria set; it was

11     inmates who needed their communication

12     restricted.  That was basically what the

13     criteria was.

14 Q.  Did you receive any instruction or training or

15     guidance as to how to decide whether an inmate

16     needed their communication monitored such that

17     they would be appropriate for CMU placement?

18 A.  No specific training.  But it was -- it was

19     things that we talked about during our

20     meetings.  Just in general, you know, after

21     having so many years in the Bureau of Prisons,

22     some of the stuff comes naturally.

23 Q.  Is it fair to say that it was somewhat

24     self-evident to you at the office as to who

25     these individuals were who were appropriate for
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1     CMU placement?

2 A.  Somewhat, with the concurrence of our

3     supervisor.

4 Q.  Did the process for referring individuals to

5     the CMU change over time?

6 A.  Not that I recall, no.

7 Q.  When you first started referring individuals to

8     the CMU, did you have any expectation as to how

9     long those individuals would remain there?

10 A.  No.

11 Q.  Did that change over time?

12 A.  I have no idea.

13 Q.  Is there any difference in the two CMU units,

14     Marion and Terre Haute?

15              MR.  JOHNSON:  Objection; vague.

16 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol) You can answer if you can,

17     please.

18 A.  I have no idea.

19 Q.  You described the first step in the referral

20     process as your office receiving a referral.

21     Who did you receive that referral from?

22 A.  Based on the paperwork that I reviewed, there

23     were -- the paper could come from several

24     sources, or the referral could come from

25     several sources:  the CTU -- the Counter
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1 A.  I'm sorry, you're cutting out.  Can you repeat

2     it, please?

3 Q.  I will.  Did you play any role in considering

4     inmate requests for transfer out of the CMU?

5 A.  Are you talking about official transfers, or

6     just the inmate requesting transfer?

7 Q.  Well, let's start with official transfers.

8 A.  No.

9 Q.  How about the inmate requesting transfer?

10 A.  We responded to inmate requests frequently.

11     Mostly in the form of administrative remedies.

12 Q.  And did inmate administrative remedies lead to

13     reconsideration of the appropriateness of their

14     CMU placement?

15 A.  I wouldn't say reconsideration; I would say

16     review of.

17 Q.  And what's the distinction you're drawing?

18 A.  We would review the reasons why they were

19     placed in the CMU and remind them of that.  We

20     did not reconsider them for placement there.

21 Q.  Are you aware of whether others in your office

22     were involved in the official CMU transfer

23     requests?

24 A.  No.

25 Q.  Let's go back to discussion of the CMU referral
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1     information in the packet underlying this form

2     that would indicate whether this inmate's

3     association with the Portland Seven was proven

4     or suspected or something else?

5              MR.  JOHNSON:  Objection; calls for

6     speculation.

7 A.  It would be speculating.  There's no way to

8     know if it was in there proven or otherwise,

9     based on what I have here.

10 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  It could be either way?

11 A.  Correct.

12 Q.  I'd like to ask you to turn to Page 120 in

13     Exhibit 33.  This is a CMU review form

14     Bates-stamped '60913 and dated March 27th,

15     2007.  Do you see that?

16 A.  Yes.

17 Q.  Could you take a moment to please review the

18     form?

19              (The witness complied.)

20 A.  Okay.

21 Q.  Do you believe that this inmate is appropriate

22     for CMU placement?

23 A.  Do I believe he was appropriate at the time I

24     did the referral?

25 Q.  Well, we'll start with that, yes.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 73 of 118



JANET L. GEORGE  7/26/2013  Yassin Muhiddin Aref, et al. vs. Eric Holder, et al.

DOLGINOFF & ASSOCIATES  (913)  894-4200

13 (Pages 46 to 49)

Page 46

1 A.  I would say yes.

2 Q.  Sitting here today and having reviewed it

3     again, do you believe this inmate is

4     appropriate for CMU placement?

5 A.  I've been out of that department for quite a

6     while, and I have no idea today if the criteria

7     have changed or if there's any type of

8     difference in the program today based -- versus

9     what it was then.  So I can't say for sure.

10 Q.  As you sit here today, do you have any reason

11     to believe that this inmate is inappropriate

12     for CMU placement?

13 A.  My answer stays the same; I don't know what

14     the -- what the program is like today.

15 Q.  But I'm asking you based on what you do know,

16     do you have any reason to believe that this

17     inmate is inappropriate for CMU placement?

18              MR.  JOHNSON:  Objection; asked and

19     answered.

20 A.  I believe looking at it today that he -- as

21     long as everything is the same as it was then,

22     then yes, he's appropriate.

23 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  Do you have any reason to

24     believe that things are different from the way

25     they were when you were there?

Page 47

1 A.  Haven't a clue.

2 Q.  But you don't have any reason to believe they

3     are; correct?

4              MR.  JOHNSON:  Objection; asked and

5     answered.

6 A.  Again, I have no idea.  I don't -- I don't keep

7     up with that.  After I moved out of that

8     department, I don't have any knowledge of it.

9 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  So looking at this form, how

10     come you believe, based on -- let me rephrase

11     that.

12              You indicated that at the time when

13     you were engaged in the CMU reviews, this

14     person appears appropriate for CMU placement.

15     Based on what?

16 A.  Based on his circumvention of the mail and

17     phone monitoring, as well as his institution

18     conduct.

19 Q.  What institution conduct are you referring to?

20 A.  Based on what it says here, "His conduct

21     includes the militant recruitment and

22     radicalization of other inmates..."

23              And he was "heard discussing" --

24 Q.  What does that mean --

25 A.  I'm sorry, and he was "heard discussing

Page 48

1     politics and Hamas on the phone."

2 Q.  Taking first the phrase "military recruitment

3     and radicalization of other inmates," what does

4     that mean?

5 A.  To me that means he was attempting to recruit

6     them to his beliefs and way of thinking.

7 Q.  Do you know what the source of that information

8     is?

9 A.  The source of that information would have been

10     whatever we received from whoever submitted

11     this -- this -- what was the word you used?

12     Nomination.

13 Q.  Nomination?

14 A.  Yes.

15 Q.  Do you believe that you would have had access

16     to the facts underlying that statement when you

17     wrote this summary?  And, for example, I mean,

18     do you expect that you were provided

19     information about who he recruited, when,

20     toward what goal, et cetera?

21 A.  I don't recall if the documentation was that

22     specific or not.

23 Q.  So is it possible that you just received

24     information, for example, from the CTU

25     indicating that this inmate was involved in

Page 49

1     militant recruitment and radicalization, with

2     no detail provided?

3 A.  Is it possible?  Yes.  I -- I don't -- I don't

4     know.

5 Q.  I'd like to ask you to turn to Exhibit 34,

6     ma'am.  You can leave the binder open, because

7     we're still going to be using that as well.

8              Towards the end of Exhibit 34, you'll

9     find a memo from Les Smith that's dated

10     March 20th, 2007.  I believe it's the last memo

11     in the exhibit, and it's Bates-stamped '67422.

12 A.  Okay.

13 Q.  Have you seen this document before?

14 A.  I don't recall.  I would say yes, but I don't

15     recall it specifically.

16 Q.  Is this the type of document that you would

17     rely on to write your Correctional Programs

18     summary?

19 A.  This, in addition to whatever other information

20     we were provided.

21 Q.  Take a moment to review the memo.  I want to

22     ask you if you believe that this memorandum

23     relates to the CMU form that we've just been

24     reviewing.

25              MR.  JOHNSON:  I'll object; no
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1     foundation, calls for speculation.  But you can

2     review and answer.

3              (The witness examined the document.)

4 A.  Okay, I've reviewed.  Can you ask your question

5     again?

6 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  Sure.  Based on your review,

7     do you believe that this memo relates to the

8     CMU review form we've just been discussing?

9              MR.  JOHNSON:  Same objection.

10 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  And to be specific, I'm

11     referring to the form dated March 27th, 2007.

12 A.  It appears to, yes.

13 Q.  Does the Les Smith memo provide any additional

14     facts about recruitment or radicalization?

15 A.  Not that I can tell.

16 Q.  And you've taken the time to review the entire

17     document; correct?

18 A.  Yes.

19 Q.  Do you think those facts as to the specifics of

20     the recruitment and radicalization this inmate

21     was supposed to have been involved in would

22     have been necessary for your office to review

23     the appropriateness of CMU placement?

24 A.  Based on the way the offices work together, we

25     would have trusted that someone had that
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1     information.  It wouldn't necessarily -- I

2     wouldn't have necessarily needed detailed

3     information about who and where.

4 Q.  When you say that "we would have trusted that

5     someone had that information," are you thinking

6     of another office in particular?

7 A.  Probably the CTU staff had that information.

8 Q.  Do you think having the facts underlying this

9     inmate's supposed recruitment and

10     radicalization would have helped your office to

11     adequately review the appropriateness of this

12     inmate's CMU placement?

13 A.  No.

14 Q.  How come?

15 A.  I don't believe it would have changed anything.

16 Q.  Why not?

17 A.  Because if we see a name and a number or a name

18     and a -- a specific incident, it's still the

19     same outcome; he still was associated with

20     militant recruitment and radicalization, which

21     is what we have here in the memo.

22 Q.  Okay.  Your summary also indicates that this

23     inmate was "heard discussing politics and Hamas

24     on the phone"; correct?

25 A.  Correct.

Page 52

1 Q.  Is that a basis for CMU designation?

2 A.  It could be one piece of the puzzle, yes.

3 Q.  I'd like you to please turn to Page 122.  This

4     is a CMU review form Bates-stamped '60715 and

5     dated April 16th, 2007.

6              Are we looking at the same page,

7     ma'am?

8 A.  Yes, we are.

9 Q.  Okay.  And could you identify for me which

10     portions of this form you authored?

11 A.  The top portion under where it says "CMU

12     Review," and the comments section.

13 Q.  Okay.  Portions of this document have been

14     redacted, and I'm just going to ask you about

15     the unredacted portions and ask you to try to

16     respond as best you can just based on the

17     unredacted portions, okay?

18 A.  Okay.

19 Q.  Looking at the Correctional Programs summary, I

20     again see the phrase "recruitment and

21     radicalization."  The summary reads, "During

22     his incarceration, he has associated himself

23     with the recruitment and radicalization of

24     other inmates."  Do you see that?

25 A.  Yes.
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1 Q.  Do you think that means the same thing or

2     something different from what you wrote in the

3     last Correctional Programs summary we read

4     about the inmate being involved in militant

5     recruitment and radicalization of other

6     inmates?

7 A.  I have no way to know if it's the same or

8     different, based on the information that I

9     have.

10 Q.  What's the source of this information?

11 A.  I would assume it came from the packet, but I

12     don't have that information in front of me, so

13     that would be an assumption.

14 Q.  Okay, let's take a look again at Exhibit 34.

15     And this time I'm going to direct you to the

16     second Smith memo within that exhibit.  It's

17     Bates-stamped '67364 and dated March 12th,

18     2007.

19              Are you looking at that page, ma'am?

20 A.  '67364?

21 Q.  Yes.

22 A.  Yes.

23 Q.  Please take a moment and review that memo.  I'm

24     going to ask you again whether you believe that

25     this memo relates to the April 16th, 2007 CMU
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Page 54

1     review form we've been discussing.

2              MR.  JOHNSON:  Again object; lack of

3     foundation, and speculative.  But go ahead.

4              (The witness examined the document.)

5 A.  Okay.

6 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  Do you believe that this

7     March 12, 2007 memo relates to the April 16th,

8     2007 CMU review form at Page 22 of Exhibit 33?

9 A.  I can't say for sure.  It appears to, but I

10     don't know for sure.

11 Q.  You'll notice that the inmate's projected

12     release date is December 10th, 2022, according

13     to the Correctional Programs summary, and I see

14     that same date under additional pertinent

15     information on Section 8 of Smith's memo.  Do

16     you see that?

17 A.  Yes, I do.

18 Q.  Does it make it seem to you as though it's

19     quite likely that these documents relate to

20     each other?

21              MR.  JOHNSON:  Same objections.

22 A.  It's possible, yes.  Is it a hundred percent?

23     I don't know.

24 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  Okay.  Do you believe that

25     the source of your Correctional Programs

Page 55

1     summary was this March 12th Les Smith memo?

2 A.  Assuming that this -- that they both relate to

3     one another, then yes.

4 Q.  Is it fair to say that there's no information

5     provided in Les Smith's memo to explain why

6     this person is eligible for CMU placement

7     beyond the statement the "Reasonable evidence

8     indicates that his incarceration conduct has

9     included association with recruitment and

10     radicalization of other inmates"?

11 A.  Is it fair to say that, other than that,

12     there's no information other than that?

13 Q.  Yes.

14              MR.  JOHNSON:  Objection;

15     argumentative.  You can answer.

16 A.  Yes.

17 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  Do you think that that one

18     statement, without underlying fact, provided

19     adequate information for your office to

20     appropriately review this inmate's CMU

21     placement?

22 A.  Yes.

23 Q.  I'd like you to take a look back at Page 122 in

24     Exhibit 33.  Please look at the Correctional

25     Programs Administrator line.  Can you read what
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1     asked us to get more information.

2 Q.  Did that ever happen?

3 A.  I have no idea.  In this particular case?

4 Q.  You don't remember any -- I was going to ask,

5     do you ever remember an instance of that

6     happening?

7 A.  Yes.

8 Q.  And can you describe that instance for me,

9     please?

10 A.  No, I can't.  I just remember in general that

11     happened frequently, where we would get

12     questions and a need for information, or there

13     would be just one little question that we'd

14     have to look on the computer for, or something

15     along those lines.  I don't recall specific

16     instances, no.

17 Q.  Do you remember the type of questions that the

18     Regional Director would call with?

19 A.  No.

20 Q.  Let's turn to Page 127 in Exhibit 33.  This is

21     a CMU review form Bates-stamped '60822 and

22     dated July 20th, 2007; correct?

23 A.  Yes.

24 Q.  Please take a moment to review the form, ma'am.

25              (The witness examined the document.)
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1 A.  Okay.

2 Q.  This narrative includes a reference to the CTU

3     recommending placement in the CMU.  The earlier

4     reviews that we looked at did not indicate one

5     way or the other anything about whether the CTU

6     was recommending placement.  Do you remember

7     what led to this change?

8 A.  I do not, no.

9 Q.  Reading the document again today, do you

10     believe that this prisoner belonged in a CMU?

11 A.  Based on the criteria or the mission of the

12     unit then, yes.

13 Q.  How come?

14 A.  Because he had the ability to influence others

15     and his crimes were significant against

16     interstate commerce and so forth.

17 Q.  The last sentence -- well, the last full

18     sentence of the Correctional Programs narrative

19     states, "Based on his significant leadership

20     abilities, high educational and technical

21     background, and blatant disregard for

22     government, CTU staff are recommending

23     placement in the CMU."

24              Do you agree that those three criteria

25     make the prisoner appropriate for CMU

Page 59

1     placement?

2 A.  Potentially any one of those criteria could

3     make an inmate appropriate for the CMU.

4 Q.  And what about those criteria or any one of

5     them make an inmate appropriate for CMU

6     placement?

7              MR.  JOHNSON:  Objection; vague.  You

8     can answer.

9 A.  I'm sorry --

10 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  You can answer if you can,

11     please.

12 A.  Yeah, can you repeat that, please, because

13     there was really no question there.

14              MS. MEEROPOL:  Could you read it back

15     for me, please?

16              (The pending question was read by the

17     reporter.)

18 A.  Okay.  Explain to me what you mean, because I

19     think it's pretty self-explanatory.  If they

20     have technical abilities that are beyond the

21     average person, that could make someone

22     appropriate.  It depends on what circumstance

23     you're looking at.

24 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  Well, for example, his

25     significant leadership abilities, why is the

Page 60

1     CMU appropriate or necessary for someone with

2     significant leadership abilities?

3 A.  In this particular case, his leadership

4     abilities tied into his current offense.

5 Q.  And why does that make CMU designation

6     appropriate?

7 A.  Because if he has the ability to lead others in

8     that way, then he could do it for illegal or

9     other purposes that are inappropriate.

10 Q.  I'd like you to look at the next page, which is

11     Page 128.  It's a CMU review form Bates-stamped

12     '60938.  Its dated August 7th, 2007.  Please

13     take a moment to review the form.

14              (The witness examined the document.)

15 A.  Okay.

16 Q.  Your narrative references the fact that this

17     inmate maintains communication with many people

18     in the white separatist movement, is a prolific

19     writer, and has published a lot; correct?

20 A.  Yes.

21 Q.  I'm looking at the second half, if that helps.

22 A.  Yes.

23 Q.  Do you know whether that communication that

24     you're referencing here was criminal in nature?

25 A.  Based on what I have in front of me, I don't

Page 61

1     know.

2 Q.  Is that question relevant to the

3     appropriateness of CMU placement?

4 A.  No.

5 Q.  If you learned that the communication in

6     question was purely political and did not

7     address criminal actions or plans, would you

8     still believe it was relevant for CMU

9     placement?

10 A.  Would I believe him being a prolific writer was

11     relevant?

12 Q.  Yes.

13 A.  In this particular case, yes.

14 Q.  And how come?

15 A.  Because of his associations.

16 Q.  It appears that this individual did not end up

17     in the CMU.  Can you tell why from this form?

18 A.  No.

19 Q.  Do you have any idea, having reviewed this

20     form, why this individual would have been sent

21     to ADX as opposed to CMU?

22 A.  Based on the form, I have no idea.

23 Q.  Let's look at Page 130 in Exhibit 33, please.

24     This is a CMU review form Bates-stamped --

25     well, the Bates stamp is pretty hard to read,
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1 A.  No.

2 Q.  Do you have adequate information, based on this

3     memo, to decide if the prisoner is appropriate

4     for the CMU?

5 A.  Yes.

6 Q.  And that's what information that you would be

7     relying on?

8 A.  The fact that he was circumventing the phone

9     monitoring procedures.

10 Q.  So is it your testimony, then, that any

11     prisoner who is using a cell phone in a secure

12     federal prison is appropriate for CMU

13     placement?

14 A.  I can't speak about other inmates; I can only

15     speak about this particular one.  And this was

16     the one that was referred to us, and yes, we

17     considered him appropriate.

18 Q.  Okay, but my question is referring to the fact

19     that the only information that you said you

20     were relying on in saying that this person is

21     appropriate for CMU placement was the fact that

22     he was using a cell phone in a secure federal

23     prison.  And I'm asking if that means that any

24     inmate using a cell phone in a secure federal

25     prison would be equally eligible for CMU

Page 72

1     placement.

2 A.  I don't think you can draw that conclusion,

3     because this is -- this person was referred

4     from the institution or however the referral

5     came.  You know, we have inmates that get in a

6     fight, but they don't -- not everybody gets the

7     same punishment for what they do.  Not

8     everybody's found guilty for what they do.  So

9     each case is looked at individually.

10 Q.  So is it fair to say that there's no procedure

11     in place to ensure that one inmate who's found

12     using a cell phone is treated the same as

13     another inmate who's found using a cell phone?

14 A.  Each case is treated individually.

15 Q.  Okay.  Please turn to Page 144.  This is a CMU

16     review form dated November 21st, 2008 and

17     Bates-stamped '60829.

18 A.  Okay.

19 Q.  Please take a moment to review the form, and

20     let me know when you're done.

21              (The witness examined the document.)

22 A.  Okay.

23 Q.  Do you agree that this individual is

24     appropriate for CMU placement?

25 A.  Based on the information I have here, yes.
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1     of my head; there are probably others.

2 Q.  If you think of any other characteristics

3     during this deposition, you can feel free to

4     tell me and supplement that, okay?

5 A.  Okay.

6 Q.  Did you receive any written materials at the

7     regional office regarding the CMUs?

8 A.  I did not receive any written materials, no.

9 Q.  Did you receive any training regarding how to

10     determine a prisoner's eligibility for the CMU?

11 A.  I would not call it formal training, but I did

12     have the individuals in my office, including my

13     supervisor and the other specialists, fill me

14     in on who may qualify for a CMU placement.

15 Q.  And did they provide you with any other general

16     information besides what you've already relayed

17     to me?

18 A.  No.

19 Q.  You said earlier, I believe, that you also

20     received information from staff at the Units

21     themselves; is that correct?

22 A.  Verbal information through telephone calls.

23 Q.  And what type of information did you receive?

24 A.  I can't specifically say what was received from

25     who, but it had to do with the makeup of the
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1 Q.  Okay, thank you, sir.

2              MS. MEEROPOL:  One moment, please.

3              (Discussion off the record.)

4              MS. MEEROPOL:  I'm going to apologize;

5     we have a couple law students who are going to

6     be joining us in a few minutes, so you may see

7     a couple other people enter the screen.  We'll

8     just keep going, okay?

9              MR. CARTIER:  Fine with us.

10              MS. MEEROPOL:  Great.

11              (Pause in the proceeding.)

12              (The reported noted the arrival of

13     Adriana Ballines and Alexandria McKee.)

14 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol) Sir, when did you first learn

15     that you would be playing a role in reviewing

16     inmates for CMU placement?

17 A.  Shortly after my arrival to Correctional

18     Programs in September 2009.

19 Q.  And what were you told about the role you would

20     play?

21 A.  At that time, I was a specialist, and it was my

22     understanding, it was presented to me, that I

23     would be preparing a referral package that we

24     receive from CTU and we'd prepare that for

25     routing within the North Central Regional

Page 16

1     Office.

2 Q.  Anything else regarding your responsibilities?

3 A.  At that point in time, no.

4 Q.  What were you told about the packet that you

5     would be preparing?

6 A.  That the information that we would be gathering

7     would be put in a referral format and it would

8     be routed around for the other administrators,

9     the deputy director -- Regional Director, and

10     the Regional Director for a final decision.

11 Q.  Were you provided with any written information

12     about the -- what should be included in the

13     packet?

14 A.  No, there was no written guidelines.

15 Q.  Were you given instructions, non-written

16     instructions, about what to include in the

17     packet?

18 A.  Yes, I was.

19 Q.  And what was that?

20 A.  To the best of my knowledge, I was given

21     guidance to include information that would be

22     pertinent for the decision-making authorities

23     to utilize when making a decision regarding

24     placement in a CMU.  And it had to do with

25     information pertaining to anything regarding

Page 17

1     their communication that could -- that would

2     require a heightened monitoring.

3 Q.  Well, that's a pretty wide range of

4     information, I could imagine.  Were you

5     provided guidance as to the sources of

6     information you should look to?

7 A.  The only guidance in that regard would be to

8     look at the information provided to us from the

9     CTU.

10 Q.  And what type of information was provided from

11     the CTU to you?

12 A.  Depending upon the type of the referral, the

13     information could include a referral memo from

14     CTU.  It would include a pre-sentence

15     investigation, judgment and commitment order.

16     It could include a referral from the actual

17     institution if the alleged behavior occurred

18     within the institution.  It also included a

19     notice of CMU placement.  It also included

20     discipline hearing reports, as well as Special

21     Investigative Services investigations.  It

22     would include all those documents, depending

23     upon what type of referral it was and where it

24     originated from.

25 Q.  What do you mean by "what type of referral"?

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 82 of 118



PETER D. POTTIORS  7/25/2013  Yassin Muhiddin Aref, et al. vs. Eric Holder, et al.

DOLGINOFF & ASSOCIATES  (913)  894-4200

14 (Pages 50 to 53)

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

Page 52

1     if he has been submitted for release from the

2     CMU on a prior occasion to disapprove, we

3     would, upon chance, look at that as well.

4 Q.  Thank you.  Was it the regional office's

5     policy, as far as you understand it, to create

6     a CMU referral form every time a prisoner was

7     considered for redesignation to or from a CMU?

8 A.  I'm not aware of where that practice came

9     about.  It was established prior to me arriving

10     in the Correctional Programs department, and it

11     was never discussed as to why it was created.

12     Except to say that it was a narrative to give

13     all the people a way to make an informed

14     decision.

15 Q.  But was that the policy, to do it every time

16     CMU redesignation was considered, at the time

17     you were at the office?

18              MR. CARTIER:  I'll just object as

19     vague.  I'm not sure if your question also

20     addresses admin remedies.  But you can answer.

21 A.  I'm not aware of a policy.  And, in fact, I

22     don't think there is a policy regarding that;

23     however, it was a practice that we used.

24 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  So is it fair to say that it

25     was a practice of the regional office to create

Page 53

1     a CMU referral form every time a prisoner was

2     considered for redesignation to or from the

3     CMU?

4 A.  That is fair to say, that's correct.

5 Q.  Thank you.  If you turn to the next page in

6     Exhibit 30, sir, you will see a memorandum from

7     Mr. Kelly, the Unit Manager.  Are you on that

8     page?  It's Bates-stamped '3407.

9 A.  Yes, I'm on that page.

10 Q.  Have you seen this document before, sir?

11 A.  I can't recall that I have.  I'm not saying

12     that I haven't.

13 Q.  Did you see documents of this type, the unit

14     recommendation regarding CMU inmate

15     redesignation, when you were putting together

16     your CMU referral packets?

17 A.  I would have to say that it usually comes from

18     the warden, but it looks like this one has come

19     through the warden.  So I have seen memorandums

20     like this from the warden.

21 Q.  And were memorandums like this included in the

22     CMU referral packet?

23 A.  I assume we're talking about referral out of

24     the CMU, and yes, these documents would be in

25     the out-of-CMU referrals.
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1     across your desk, what steps would you expect

2     that you would take with respect to that issue?

3 A.  As stated earlier, I would pull the

4     documentation from the referrals.  I would

5     review that document, I would review Sentry, I

6     would review what the inmate stated, and -- in

7     his remedy.  I would also look at the

8     attachments he submitted.  And those are some

9     of the things that I would consider.

10 Q.  Okay.

11 A.  And I would also consider the --

12 Q.  Looking at the CMU --

13 A.  I just thought I would also consider the

14     warden's response.

15 Q.  Thank you, sir.

16              Looking back at the CMU referral form

17     again, it indicates "CTU indicates, although

18     marginalized, McGowan continues to correspond

19     with numerous associates of these groups,

20     including those who have been the subject of

21     local, state and federal investigations, as

22     well as criminal charges."

23              Do you see where I'm reading, sir --

24 A.  Yes, I do.  I'm sorry, yes, I do.

25 Q.  Now, does this sentence mean that McGowan

Page 64

1     continues to correspond with ALF and ELF, or

2     were you just referring to his continued

3     correspondence with other environmental groups?

4              MR. CARTIER:  I'll just object; I'm

5     unclear whether we're talking about the CTU

6     referral or CMU referral.

7              MS. MEEROPOL:  Thank you.  I'm

8     referring to the CMU referral form

9     Bates-stamped '5032.

10              MR. CARTIER:  Okay, no objection.

11 A.  Can you ask that again, please?

12              MS. MEEROPOL:  Could you read it back

13     for me, please?

14              (The pending question was read by the

15     reporter.)

16 A.  Although this is my referral, I would have

17     taken that information from the CTU, so I can't

18     get inside their mind-set as to what they were

19     referring to specifically, whether it was a

20     general group or those groups.  But based upon

21     the context of this, I would have to say it was

22     with those particular groups.

23 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  So you don't know as a

24     matter of fact; but looking at the referral,

25     the referral seems to imply that he was

Page 65

1     continuing to correspond with ELF and ALF; is

2     that correct?

3 A.  That is a correct statement.

4 Q.  Please read the next sentence to yourself, sir.

5     The one that starts, "He continues to provide

6     guidance."  You don't have to read it out loud;

7     just to yourself.

8              (The witness complied.)

9 A.  Okay.

10 Q.  Do you understand this to be a referral to

11     providing guidance to ELF and ALF, or again,

12     just general groups?

13 A.  I would have to say the same response.  In the

14     context, the way it is written, I would be

15     inclined to believe that it was to the ALF/ELF,

16     but I do not know that for a fact.

17 Q.  Do you think that McGowan's correspondence and

18     guidance to general environmental groups, not

19     the ELF and ALF, would be relevant to the

20     question of whether he is eligible for transfer

21     from the CMU?

22 A.  I guess it would depend what was in that

23     correspondence, to make an informed decision,

24     if it was generally to other general groups.

25 Q.  So what would make the difference to you?
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1     why that is?

2              MR. CARTIER:  Same objection.  You can

3     answer.

4 A.  I would believe it's based upon the SMU's

5     physical structure of being almost considered a

6     lockdown unit; they're more restrictive.

7 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  Please turn to Page 60, sir.

8     This is Bates-stamped '60935.  Can you please

9     identify the document for me?

10 A.  This is a CMU referral in which I prepared the

11     narrative portion.

12 Q.  Can you tell why this individual was sent to

13     the CMU by reading the Correctional Programs

14     summary?  And I understand that, again, this is

15     a situation where you were considering his

16     transfer out of the CMU.  I'm just wondering

17     if, reading the summary, if you can tell why he

18     was sent to the CMU.

19 A.  My best guess, based upon the referral I have

20     in front of me, is that he used a communication

21     method to circumvent our established methods to

22     make contact with individuals on the outside of

23     the prison.

24 Q.  Using a cell phone; is that accurate?

25 A.  It appears so.

Page 125

1 Q.  Is it accurate to say that the BOP confiscates

2     hundreds of cell phones a year from inside a

3     federal prison?

4 A.  I wouldn't have knowledge of that as being an

5     accurate statement.

6 Q.  Do you believe that mere possession and use of

7     a cell phone would make someone appropriate for

8     CMU placement; or, in your understanding, would

9     there have to be something more to the story to

10     explain CMU placement for an individual like

11     that?

12 A.  I don't think that the mere possession of a

13     cell phone would warrant placement in the CMU.

14     I think there would have to be other factors

15     involved to warrant placement.

16 Q.  Okay, please turn to Page 63.  This is

17     Bates-stamped '60762.  Can you identify it for

18     me?

19 A.  It is a CMU referral in which I prepared the

20     narrative portion.

21 Q.  Please review the Psychology Services

22     Administrator comment on the document in front

23     of you, and then let me know if you have any

24     trouble reading his handwriting.

25 A.  Many people have trouble reading his
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1     to the level of requiring CMU placement.  So in

2     this case, continued militant beliefs, it could

3     be reason for placement in a CMU.

4 Q.  (By Ms. Meeropol)  We just broke up for a

5     moment.  Maybe the court reporter could read

6     your answer back for me.

7              (The last answer was read by the

8     reporter.)

9 Q.  For an individual like this where continued

10     militant beliefs are part of the larger picture

11     that lands them in the CMU, would that

12     individual have to change his beliefs to then

13     be eligible for release from the CMU?

14              MR. CARTIER:  Objection.  You can

15     answer.

16 A.  You're kind of being tricky with the words as

17     for "militant beliefs."  I don't think a person

18     would have to change their beliefs; I would

19     think they would have to change the militant

20     portion of those beliefs.

21 Q.  Okay.  Please turn to Page 84.  This is

22     Bates-stamped '60851.  Could you identify it,

23     please?

24 A.  This is a CMU referral in which I prepared the

25     Correctional Programs narrative, and I also

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 86 of 118



EXHIBIT 52 

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 87 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 88 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 89 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 90 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 91 of 118



EXHIBIT 53 

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 92 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 93 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 94 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 95 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 96 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 97 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 98 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 99 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 100 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 101 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 102 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 103 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 104 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 105 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 106 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 107 of 118



.

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 108 of 118



EXHIBIT 54 

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 109 of 118



212-400-8845 - depo@transperfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 1

             UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

            FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

------------------------------X

YASSIN MUHIDDIN AREF

    and

DANIEL MCGOWAN

    and

ROYAL JONES
                                 CIVIL ACTION NO.
    and                          1:10-cv-0053-BJR

KIFAH JAYYOUSI

         VS.

ERIC HOLDER, Attorney General
of the United States

    and

CHARLES E. SAMUELS, Director
of the Federal Bureau of
Prisons (BOP)

    and

D. SCOTT DODRILL
Assistant Director, Correctional
Programs Division, Federal
Bureau of Prisons

    and

LESLIE S. SMITH, Chief,
Counter Terrorism Unit,
Federal Bureau of Prisons

                                    (TITLE CONTINUE D)

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 110 of 118



212-400-8845 - depo@transperfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 2

1

2        and

3    FEDERAL BUREAU OF PRISONS

4    -----------------------------X

5

6

7

8      30(B)(6) DEPOSITION OF FEDERAL BUREAU OF PRIS ONS,

9            BY AND THROUGH ITS AGENCY DESIGNEE,

10                     THOMAS LEE ALBRIGHT

11             Thursday, July 18, 2013; 9:04 a.m.

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22    

23 Reported by:       

24 Cindy L. Sebo

25 Ref: 9896A

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 111 of 118



212-400-8845 - depo@transperfect.com
TransPerfect Legal Solutions

Page 66

1                     THOMAS LEE ALBRIGHT

2     now, we're looking at the 8-1/2 and talking ab out

3     the 8-1/2; so, you know, I'm just trying to

4     stay -- understand what -- where you're talkin g

5     about.

6          Q.     As a general matter, if an inmate

7     challenges -- if an inmate files a BP-9 appeal ing

8     CMU designation, would you expect the warden t o

9     undertake an investigation to determine whethe r

10     the reasons listed on the notice of transfer are

11     factually correct or not?

12          A.     Yes, I would imagine.

13          Q.     If an inmate is not satisfied wit h the

14     warden's response to his BP-9 regarding CMU

15     designation, what's the next step that he sho uld

16     undertake?

17          A.     The regional administrative remed y

18     appeal, BP-10.

19          Q.     And does the regional director ha ve

20     the authority to take any action with respect  to

21     CMU designation pursuant to that request?

22          A.     Yes.

23          Q.     And what action may they take?

24          A.     Through consultation and through their

25     investigation with the designation center or any
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2     entity that designated that inmate there, they  can

3     consult with them.  And if they disagree, you

4     know, they would make decisions based on that

5     investigation.

6          Q.     And what -- what decision would th ey

7     make if they disagreed?

8          A.     Well, as we talked about earlier, if

9     they want to concur with the inmate that the

10     inmate's designation wasn't appropriate or th ey

11     don't feel that he's appropriate for that sec urity

12     level or that facility, then they can request  the

13     designation center redesignate that inmate to

14     another facility and, through concurrence wit h

15     them, come up with a conclusion.

16          Q.     But it would be the designation

17     center's decision at the end of the day?

18          A.     They're the ones that do the

19     designations.

20          Q.     Is that a yes?

21                 MR. CARTIER:  I'm going to object

22          to lack of foundation.

23                 THE WITNESS:  I think, through

24          concurrence with the investigation and i f

25          they both concur that needs to be -- the
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2          inmate needs to be transferred, the

3          designation center is the one that

4          actually designates it.  So the regional

5          director can grant that appeal based on

6          their investigation.

7     BY MS. MEEROPOL:

8          Q.     Is that a guarantee that the

9     designation center would actually change the

10     inmate's designation?

11          A.     Not necessarily.

12          Q.     The designation center could disa gree

13     and refuse to take that action?

14          A.     Yes.

15          Q.     What investigation would you expe ct

16     the regional office to undertake in the event  of a

17     inmate's regional appeal about CMU designatio n?

18          A.     They would review the information

19     that's relevant to the inmate's concerns to m ake

20     sure they're addressed.  That could be, again , the

21     presentence investigation report, disciplinar y

22     history, adjustment commitment order, any

23     recommendations by the -- the judge or the co urt,

24     any confidential investigation that may be

25     conducted.
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2     policy, is it appropriate when an inmate has f iled

3     an administrative remedy pointing out inaccura cies

4     in a notice of transfer to ignore the question  of

5     whether or not there are inaccuracies and,

6     instead, answer the question as to whether tha t

7     individual's designation is appropriate?

8          A.     Again, based on the information th at's

9     in front of me, you're -- you're asking the

10     question whether it's appropriate for the BOP  to

11     ignore.  And I cannot speak for this packet o r

12     these remedies because I don't know if those

13     issues were ignored.

14                 They may have been investigated a nd

15     determined that it was appropriate and the

16     information that was available for the design ation

17     in the designation packet was appropriate to

18     designate him to a CMU.

19                 So I cannot answer your question if

20     it's appropriate to ignore, because it may we ll

21     not have been ignored.  But I can't speak for  who

22     wrote this, who -- who designated him, who --  who

23     investigated it.

24          Q.     Did the administrative remedy pro cess

25     function as it should with respect to this
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2     inmate's complaint?

3          A.     He made it all the way through the

4     BP-11 level, so, yes, he had the opportunity t o

5     file all the way up.

6                 MS. MEEROPOL:  I'd like to mark fo r

7          identification Exhibit 8.  It's another

8          administrative remedy packet for

9          Mr. McGowan.  The first page is Bates

10          stamped P000562.

11                           -  -  -

12                   (Whereupon, Daniel McGowan's

13                    Administrative Remedy — Inform al

14                    Resolution, Marion, Illinois,

15                    9/4/08 was marked, for

16                    identification purposes, as

17                    Deposition Exhibit Number 8.)

18                           -  -  -

19                           -  -  -

20                 (Whereupon, a brief recess was ta ken

21                  from 11:38 a.m. to 11:45 a.m.)

22                           -  -  -

23     BY MS. MEEROPOL:

24          Q.     We're back after a short break.

25                 Sir, I've given you a document we 've
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2          it through the administrative remedy if

3          the inmate disagreed with what decision

4          was made in the program review process an d

5          they decide to file that through the

6          administrative remedy process disagreeing

7          with what the unit management or unit

8          decision was -- unit team decision.

9     BY MS. MEEROPOL:

10          Q.     Do you recall ever seeing an

11     administrative remedy packet regarding that

12     question?

13          A.     Specific to CMU?

14          Q.     Yes.

15          A.     No, I have not.

16          Q.     Do you believe that it is possibl e for

17     a CMU prisoner to learn the reason why they w ere

18     denied transfer from the CMU through the

19     administrative remedy process?

20          A.     Depending on the circumstances, i f it

21     wasn't confidential information used to desig nate

22     him there, yes, I -- I -- I do believe there would

23     be reasons why we could advise him that he

24     wasn't -- or that he was denied.

25          Q.     Would you expect that if -- unles s
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2     there's a situation where there's confidential

3     information, that an inmate would be able to l earn

4     those reasons through the administrative remed y

5     process?

6          A.     Yes.

7                 MR. CARTIER:  I'm just going to

8          interpose a comment, just that the -- my

9          understanding is 30(b)(6) topic was not

10          designations.  And I believe that that

11          initial designation is not transfers.

12                 But I don't object to him answeri ng

13          as a fact witness, but that seems to be

14          outside the scope.

15                 MS. MEEROPOL:  Okay.  Okay.

16                 I'd like to mark for identificati on

17          Exhibit 10.  It's another administrative

18          remedy for Daniel McGowan.  The first pa ge

19          is Bates stamped P000635.

20                           -  -  -

21                   (Whereupon, Daniel McGowan's

22                    Administrative Remedy — Inform al

23                    Resolution, Marion, Illinois,

24                    4/12/10 was marked, for

25                    identification purposes, as

Case 1:10-cv-00539-BJR-DAR   Document 138-15   Filed 04/23/14   Page 118 of 118


	Ex. 44Shoemaker Dep.pdf
	10-11
	14-15
	26
	45
	51
	59-62

	Ex. 48 Potts Dep.pdf
	10,13
	22-24
	31
	36
	40
	51-53
	54
	58-59

	Ex. 50 George Dep.pdf
	13
	16-17
	24
	45
	46-49
	50-53
	54,55,57
	58-61
	71-72

	Ex. 51 Pottios Dep.pdf
	13
	15-17
	52-53
	63-65
	124-125
	133

	Ex. 52 Twitty Designation Packet.pdf
	76156-8
	P000944

	Ex. 54 Albright 30(b)(6) Dep.pdf
	66-68
	119-120
	130-131




